
Page 1 

Elemental Mercury Long-Term Management and Storage  

Request for Proposal 89303320REM000081 

Questions and Answers 

No. Section  Page  Comment Response 

1. C.1 15 Will DOE invoke its claimed authority to extend 
the provisions of the MEBA to apply to a DOE-
leased commercially-owned facility? The 
requirement states “…except the elemental 
mercury that DOE is storing on a long term basis 
shall not be subject to the storage prohibition…” 

Under MEBA, “Elemental mercury that the 
Secretary is storing on a long-term basis shall 
not be subject to the storage prohibition of 
section 3004(j) of the Solid Waste Disposal 
Act (42 U.S.C. 6924(j)).”  42 USC § 
6939f(g)(2)(A). 
DOE believes this MEBA provision applies to 
a DOE-leased, commercially owned facility, 
and its applicability may be discussed at the 
appropriate time with the authorized state 
regulator.  

2. C.1 15 What is the process and to which federal agency 
should the Contractor apply for the MEBA 
exemption for its RCRA permitted facility? Are 
there state or federal implementing regulations 
the offeror must comply with to receive an 
approval to be exempt from 40 CFR §268 
Subpart E - Prohibitions on Storage? 

The Contractor must be able to maintain a 
RCRA permit for the long-term management 
and storage of elemental mercury for the 
duration of the Contract. If the authorized state 
regulator decides it is necessary, the contractor 
may need to obtain a RCRA permit 
modification that allows for long-term storage 
of elemental mercury, using MEBA’s 
provision that “Elemental mercury that the 
Secretary is storing on a long-term basis shall 
not be subject to the storage prohibition of 
section 3004(j) of the Solid Waste Disposal 
Act (42 U.S.C. 6924(j)).”  42 USC § 
6939f(g)(2)(A).  
Beyond the potential RCRA permit 
modification process discussed above, DOE is 
not aware of any state or federal implementing 
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regulations or other requirements that the 
contractor must comply with to receive an 
approval to be exempt from 40 CFR §268 
Subpart E - Prohibitions on Storage. 

3. C.1 15 It is our understanding the MEBA exemption to 
40 CFR §268 Subpart E – Prohibitions on Storage 
has not been incorporated into state or federal 
regulations. If that is not true, what federal or 
state regulation exists that could allow a RCRA-
authorized state to grant this exemption at a DOE 
leased commercially-owned RCRA-permitted 
hazardous waste storage facility? 

Accurate. Refer to responses in question 1 and 
2 above. 
 
 

4. C.1 15 Will DOE need to be a co-permittee on a RCRA 
permit issued by an authorized state to allow for 
the planned, long-term storage? And, if so, will 
DOE accept the RCRA financial assurance 
responsibility for closure and post-closure 
activities related to the storage facility? 

Depending on discussions with the authorized 
state regulator, the applicable RCRA permit 
may be modified to include DOE as a co-
permittee. If DOE is a co-permittee, it will only 
be for the storage of the elemental mercury. 
States and the Federal government are exempt 
from the RCRA financial assurance regulations 
found in the Code of Federal Regulations 
(CFR) at 40 CFR Parts 264/265, Subpart H 
Financial Requirements.  

5. C.2 16 Does DOE interpret the stipulation/definition of “ 
DOE facility” (or “DOE facilities”) include DOE-
leased, but commercially-owned, facilities? 

 Yes. Although the phrase “facility or facilities 
of [DOE]” is not defined in MEBA, DOE has a 
longstanding practice in various other contexts 
of leasing facilities to accomplish the 
Department’s core mission. Consistent with 
that practice, DOE construes the term “facility 
of DOE” to include a facility leased from a 
commercial entity or another Federal agency 
over which DOE provides an appropriate level 
of oversight and guidance. Accordingly, if 
DOE were to designate a facility that currently 
is owned by a commercial entity or by another 
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Federal agency, DOE would obtain an 
appropriate leasehold interest in that facility. 

6. C.6.2.1, 
C.6.4.1 

24, 25 What is the required frequency of inspections and 
what are the required reports? 

The frequency of inspections of the mercury 
containers would be according to the RCRA 
Permit and/or as determined by the authorized 
state regulator or EPA. 
Reporting of the operating record is covered by 
40 CFR §§264/265.73, the RCRA Permit, or as 
directed by the regulatory agency, whichever is 
most frequent. 
DOE requires an annual report of all elemental 
mercury in storage as of that calendar year. 

7. Various Various Will contractor be required to access 
Government/DOE reporting systems such as 
FIMS, ACAS, etc.? 

Yes. 

8. Att. J.6, 1.1 1 Will the contractor be granted access to the DOE 
system and be compensated for any upgrades 
necessary to maintain compliance? Will access 
require any specific credentials or secure log-ons? 

The Contractor will be provided access to 
necessary DOE systems, such as FIMS, or 
designated as a site FIMS administrator for the 
subject facility. If necessary, DOE will provide 
the Contractor with specific credentials and 
secure log-ons to access DOE systems. All 
costs should be reflected in the proposed 
contract line-item pricing. There will be no 
separate compensation for upgrades necessary 
to maintain compliance. 

9. C.4.4.1.2 19 Is the contractor expected or required to maintain 
blocking, bracing, or other packaging materials to 
facilitate shipment of elemental mercury in 3L or 
100MT containers at the end of the contract 
period? 

Per C.4.4.1.3, the Contractor is responsible for 
management and disposition of materials 
received that are not to be placed into long-
term storage.  
See also Amendment 1, revision to Section 
B.4. (a) CLIN 0002 description. The 
Contractor is expected to facilitate shipment of 
elemental mercury containers during end-of-
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storage activities. It is the Contractor’s 
discretion to determine how to accomplish this 
task and propose a technical approach and 
price proposal that fully addresses the 
Government’s requirements. 

10. C.6.4.3 25 With which agency regional administrator will 
the contractor file the reports and at what 
frequency? 

The pertinent EPA Region will be the one that 
covers the state in which the storage facility is 
located. The address may be included in the 
RCRA Permit and can also be obtained from 
the authorized state regulator. The frequency 
will be indicated in the RCRA Permit and/or 
40 CFR §§264/265.77. 

11. C.4.4.2.1 19 The long-term mercury storage facility will have 
no contractual relationship with the generator. 
Will DOE ensure that the generator and/or DOE 
will be responsible for, and arrange for the 
disposition of non-conforming waste, including, 
but not limited to, packaging, repackaging, 
transportation, and analytical costs? 

Sections C.4.3 and C.4.4 provide the 
performance and functional requirements of 
the Storage Facility. Section C.5.1 provides 
that “the contractor shall conduct waste 
acceptance operations, as necessary”. It is the 
Contractor’s discretion to determine how to 
accomplish the Section C Performance Work 
Statement and propose a technical approach 
and price proposal that fully addresses the 
Government’s requirements. 

12. H.15 (a), 
(b)(1), (g)(1), 
(j)(2) 

46 If the contract is terminated prior to or at 
completion of the contract term, will DOE 
continue to pay all CLINs, regardless of 
allotted/authorized funding, until such time as all 
of the Government’s material (elemental 
mercury) is properly packaged and removed from 
the Contractor’s facility? Is the Government 
responsible to fund the Contractor for all 
repackaging, loading and transport of the 
Government’s elemental mercury to the new 
specified destination? 

DOE shall pay all CLINs in accordance with 
the terms and conditions of the contract and 
any applicable laws and regulations.  
Section B.4. (a) CLIN 0002 revised, see 
Amendment 1. Description for CLIN 0002 has 
been revised to clarify the requirement for 
preparation of elemental mercury containers 
for shipment. This may include repackaging 
and loading of elemental mercury containers, 
but not the transport of such containers.  
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13. J.5 1 Is Attachment J.5 – Lease Agreement required to 
be submitted with the proposal or upon award? 

The lease will be signed at or after the time the 
contract is awarded. 

14. J.5.10 6 Will the Government’s Right to Inspect be 
subject to Contractor’s Site Access and Security 
Protocols and be limited to previously designated 
and approved authorized representatives? 

The Government, as the Lessee, shall be 
provided access to the subject leased space 
within 24 hours access notice from the 
Government. The Government’s right to 
inspect shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

15. J.2 1 Will the Government provide MEBA Training to 
meet annual approval requirements? 

Consistent with MEBA, and as noted in 
Section C.6.5.4, “the Contractor shall, in 
consultation with DOE, develop and/or provide 
specialized MEBA training [operational and 
emergency training] for all staff that have 
responsibilities related to elemental mercury 
management, transfer, storage, monitoring, or 
response.” If the Contractor has identified a 
need for additional training in order to meet its 
anticipated regulatory requirements, then this 
should be stated in the Offeror’s proposal. 

16. C.4.2.2  States "Ability to receive elemental mercury in 
industry standard Department of Transportation 
(DOT)-compliant containers, of the sizes and 
configurations specified in Section C.4.3 and 
C.5.6 (3-liter (L) and 1-metric ton (MT) 
containers)" - Section C.5.6 does not exist in the 
current RFP, please confirm this should be 
Section C.5.4. 

Section C.4.2.2 revised, see Amendment 1. 
Correct reference should be to Section C.5.4. 

17. L(15)c  States One signed original of SF33 must be 
provided " in addition to a copy for each set of 
Volume I - please verify NO hard copies are 
required. 

Submission of proposals shall be as provided 
under Section L.14(c). 

18.   Please define the required Validity Period for the 
proposal. 

See SF33 Block 12 and Section L provision, 
DOE-L-2015 Offer Acceptance Period. 
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19.   Please confirm under CLIN 3, DOE is seeking a 
unit price for receipt and storage for long-term 
storage of one-metric ton and three-liter 
Elemental Mercury containers. Further, please 
define the unit of measure for these containers 
(by month or year). Would these be provided by 
Year One and Option Years? 

CLIN 0003, as described in Section B.4(b) is 
an Indefinite Delivery Indefinite Quantity 
CLIN for Receipt and Acceptance of 
Elemental Mercury Containers. The storage 
of the elemental mercury is included in the 
description of CLIN 0002, i.e. “operation of 
the storage facility.”  
During contract performance and once the 
delivery and quantity of containers to be 
delivered is definitized, DOE will issue task 
orders utilizing the prices contained in the 
Attachment J-7 IDIQ Unit Rates.  
IDIQ CLIN 0003 tables on Attachments J-7 
and J-8 are revised to include the unit of 
measure as “Each”. 

20.   What is DOE’s plan for a contract term that is 
greater than 5 years? 

The duration of this contract is for up to 5 
years. If additional storage beyond the 5 years 
is necessary, such a scenario will be evaluated 
and addressed at that point in the future.  

21.   How many generators of mercury will there be 
for year 1, year 2, year 3, year 4 and year 5? 

The inventory estimates provided in the RFP 
are DOE’s best estimate. DOE does not have 
more detail with regard to individual 
generators and the timing of deliveries. 

22. C.4.3.4  States “The containers used for elemental 
mercury transportation shall be agreed upon 
between the Generator of the elemental mercury 
and the Storage Facility,” will the Storage 
Facility be required to initiate and maintain 
separate agreements with all the Generators? 

It is the Contractor’s discretion to determine 
how to accomplish the Section C Performance 
Work Statement and propose a technical 
approach and price proposal that fully 
addresses the Government’s requirements.  

23. C.4.4.2.1, 
C.4..4.2.2 

 States “Overpacking and verification of 
repackaged container(s) in compliance with DOT 
and RCRA requirements for return to the 
Generator, at the Generator’s expense” and 

It is the Contractor’s discretion to determine 
how to accomplish the Section C Performance 
Work Statement and propose a technical 
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“Alternately, if previously agreed to between the 
Generator and Storage Facility, the Storage 
Facility shall repackage the elemental mercury 
into industry standard DOT-compliant 
container(s), at the Generator’s expense, for 
placement into storage”, will the Storage Facility 
be required to initiate and maintain separate 
agreements with all of the Generators? 

approach and price proposal that fully 
addresses the Government’s requirements.  

24. C.5.4.2  States “Where containers are damaged or not 
compliant with the acceptable size, the accepted 
elemental mercury shall be transferred into an 
acceptable storage/shipping container or over 
pack, and returned to the Generator at the 
Generator’s expense, unless other arrangements 
are made between the Generator of the waste and 
the Contractor managing the Storage Facility to 
address the damage or other non-compliance.”, 
will the Storage Facility be required to initiate 
and maintain separate agreements with all of the 
Generators? 

It is the Contractor’s discretion to determine 
how to accomplish the Section C Performance 
Work Statement and propose a technical 
approach and price proposal that fully 
addresses the Government’s requirements. 

25. C.4.2.3 – 
System 
Description 

17 The 760 tons for the first year is assumed to be 
already in storage somewhere. Is there a record of 
the generator(s)? How much for each generator, 
and quality of mercury from each? 

DOE does not have a record of each generator. 
The inventory estimates provided in the RFP 
are DOE’s best estimate. DOE does not have 
more detail with regard to individual 
generators. 

26. C.4.3.1 – 
Performance 
Requirements 

18 To assure that all mercury containers are safe for 
extended storage we will need to empty every 
container. We will also distill all mercury 
emptied from containers to assure purity. Is the 
cost of this to be paid by the generators or do we 
include this cost in our quotation to DOE? 

Per Section C.4.3.1, validation of the contents 
of the elemental mercury containers may be 
completed through a documentary process such 
as sample analysis data or a verified Accepted 
Process. It is the Contractor’s discretion to 
determine how to accomplish this task and 
propose a technical approach and price 
proposal that fully addresses the Government’s 
requirements.  
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27. B.4 Contract 
Pricing 

12 How long is the offeror required to hold the price 
offered? There was no decision date listed on 
behalf of the DOE. 

See SF33 Block 12. 

28.   Is there an anticipated shipment date? If so, how 
much? 

DOE is unable to specify the anticipated 
shipment date and quantities with certainty, at 
this time. 

29. L.10, I.89 89, 65 In that “construction material” means a material 
brought to the construction site for incorporation 
into the building or work (FAR 52.225-9), would 
the Buy American Act – Construction Materials 
apply to upgrades to the leased facility necessary 
to perform the project if the leased area does not 
qualify as “site of the work” under FAR 222-6 
(a)(i)(3)? 

A finding that the Davis Bacon Act (and 
Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards 
Act) does not apply (or applies) to a project 
does not necessarily mean that the Buy 
American provisions of 1605 of the Recovery 
Act do not apply (or apply).  These two 
statutes contain some similar language, but are 
not the same, have different implementing 
regulatory frameworks and are construed in the 
context of their respective statutory 
schemes.  Recipients are cautioned that they 
are not to presume that coverage (or non-
coverage) under one of these 
statutory/implementing regulatory frameworks 
subjects (or does not subject) the recipient to 
coverage for the other. 

 


